Codest of Alfighes Boyssen ii

12 JAN 30 PM 3: 45

STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 42502-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

Sue Anne Gorman, Plaintiff/Appellee

٧.

Pierce County, Defendant/Appellant

Brief of Appellant Pierce County

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By
DONNA MASUMOTO
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Pierce County

955 Tacoma Avenue South Suite 301 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-4289

I. INTRODUCTION

The plaintiff was attacked inside her home by Betty and Tank, two dogs that gained entry into her home through a partially-opened sliding glass door. The plaintiff sued the owners of Betty and Tank, and each admitted fault under RCW 16.08.040, which imposes strict liability on dog owners for the bites inflicted by their pets. See RCW 16.08.040.

At issue in this appeal is whether, in addition to the dog owners, Pierce County can also be held liable for the injuries Betty and Tank inflicted on the plaintiff, or whether the plaintiff's negligence suit against the County is barred by the public duty doctrine.

The trial court ruled that the "failure to enforce" exception to the public duty doctrine applied in this case. This exception only applies, however, if a statute or ordinance places on a governmental employee a mandatory duty to perform a specific action to correct a violation, and it does not apply if performance of the action is discretionary. In this case, the language contained in Former Pierce County Code 6.07.010 conferred discretion on the County's animal control to declare a dog as "potentially dangerous" once probable cause existed to do so. The ordinance did not impose a mandatory duty to take this action. The trial court's ruling that the "failure to enforce" exception applies should be reversed, and this case

should be remanded and dismissed with respect to Pierce County.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in failing to dismiss Pierce County as a party to this lawsuit pursuant to the County's CR 50 motion for judgment as a matter of law because the public duty doctrine precluded the plaintiff's negligence claim against the County.
- 2. The trial court erred in ruling that the "failure to enforce" exception to the public duty doctrine applied in this case.
- 3. The trial court erred in instructing the jury that Pierce County had a duty to "protect the public from a potentially dangerous dog" when such language is a misstatement of applicable law that unduly expanded the County's duty of care.
- 4. The trial court erred in instructing the jury that Pierce County had a duty to "classify", "control", "confiscate and confine" a potentially dangerous dog under Former Pierce County Code 6.07.010.
- 5. The trial court erred in instructing the jury that Pierce
 County could be found liable in negligence without a finding that a
 breach of duty by the County was the proximate cause of
 plaintiff's injuries.
- 6. The trial court erred in admitting unfairly prejudicial

evidence concerning Defendant Wilson's ownership of dogs that extended six years prior to her ownership of "Betty," the dog at issue in this case.

7. The trial court erred in entering the jury's damages award against the County when the jury's verdict was the result of prejudicial error.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Did the trial court err in failing to dismiss Pierce County as a party to this lawsuit pursuant to the County's CR 50 motion for judgment as a matter of law when the public duty doctrine precluded plaintiff's claim against the County?
- 2. Did the trial court err in ruling that the "failure to enforce" exception to the public duty doctrine applied based on Former PCC 6.07.010 when that ordinance does not contain the requisite "mandatory duty" necessary to trigger the exception, but instead grants Pierce County's animal control the *discretion* to declare a dog as "potentially dangerous" if an officer has probable cause to believe the dog falls within that category?
- 3. Did the trial court err in instructing the jury that Pierce

 County had the duty to "protect the public from a potentially

 dangerous dog" when such language contravenes the public duty

doctrine and allowed Pierce County to be found liable in negligence for breaching a duty of care that was not owed to the plaintiff herself?

- 4. Did the trial court err in instructing the jury that Pierce County had a duty to "control", "confiscate and confine" a potentially dangerous dog under Former Pierce County Code 6.07.010, when these alleged duties are not applicable under the facts of this case?
- 5. Did the trial court err in instructing the jury that Pierce County could be found liable in negligence without a finding that a breach of duty by the County was the proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries?
- 6. Did the trial court err in entering the jury's damages award against the County when the jury's verdict was the result of prejudicial error arising from jury instruction error?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts

Defendant Shellie Wilson resided in Gig Harbor with her son,

Defendant Zachary Martin. RP 1177. Wilson was estranged from

Martin's father. In December 2005, when Martin was 16 years old, his

father committed suicide in Alaska. RP 1080-1; RP 1230. Martin went to

Alaska and was in charge of having his father's remains cremated. RP 1230. Martin had difficulty coping with his father's death. RP 1081. Martin had friends who were pit bull breeders. RP 1230. Aware of the situation, his friends gave Martin a pit bull puppy. RP 1081; 1197. The puppy was named "Betty." RP 1080-81.

Plaintiff Sue Gorman lived in a cul de sac with her service dog

Misty one house away from Wilson and Martin. RP 404-05. The Russells
lived on one side of Gorman, and the Kings lived on the other. RP 405.

Wilson and Martin lived directly next to the Kings. RP 405. All of these
neighbors were dog owners.

The neighborhood had a culture of letting dogs run unleashed. RP 498, 1200, 1126. Betty would go to the Kings' residence to receive treats, and their dog reciprocated by visiting Wilson. RP 1202. Russell had a dog named Romeo that on occasion would bark at Wilson's gate. RP 1200-01.

In addition, Romeo usually came to Gorman's house after 5 a.m. when Russell left for work. RP 409. Romeo would enter Gorman's house through a sliding glass door that Gorman left open "most of the time." RP 409. The open door allowed Misty to go out when needed, and it allowed Romeo to come in when he wanted. RP 410. This particular arrangement went on "for years." RP 410. Romeo had been a companion of Misty's

from the time she was a puppy. RP 411.

Wilson considered Betty as belonging to Martin, but Wilson shared in providing for Betty's needs. RP 1178-79. Martin was on his high school's wrestling team, and he took Betty with him to practice. RP 1084. He also took Betty when he visited friends. RP 1084. Betty always slept at night on Martin's bed. RP 1060.

At some point, Martin's best friend Kenny Markam asked for permission to live at Martin's house in order to finish high school. RP 1206. Markham's own living situation was not good. RP 1206. Wilson gave him permission to live with them. Markam had a pit bull named Lola, which he initially brought with him to Wilson's house. RP 1206.

On August 31, 2006, King called 911 to report that two pit bulls were at his back door acting aggressively, but he did not request follow-up contact. RP 715. These dogs were Betty and Lola. Despite King's request for no follow-up contact, an animal control officer responded to the King residence; by that time, the dogs had left King's property. RP 723. In investigating the matter, the officer made contact with Shellie Wilson. RP 718. Wilson admitted to the officer that her dogs frequently got loose and ran at large. RP 719. She also admitted that they did not have current licenses for either dog. RP 719. The officer did not have evidence that the dogs had bitten anyone. RP 745-46. Nor did the officer

witness any conduct by the dogs. RP 746. The officer issued Wilson an infraction for violating an ordinance requiring owners to keep their dogs from running loose, and he also cited her for not having a current dog license. RP 735.

As a result, Markam was told that he had to remove Lola from Wilson's residence or else he would not be allowed to stay there himself. RP 1206. Markam removed Lola from Wilson's residence that day. RP 1207.

Also in 2006, Betty went into heat for the first time. RP 1086. She was detained in Wilson's backyard on a zip line and chain runner because detaining her inside posed problems. RP 1073, 1085. Martin was not aware other dogs could gain entry into his backyard. RP 1085-86. They had no plans to breed Betty. RP 1235. Wilson's back yard was fully enclosed with fencing. RP 1186. However, the fencing had patchwork done, and a gate did not appear secure. RP 624. Betty became pregnant. RP 1086. She gave birth to 12 puppies. RP 900, 1087, 1094; 1235. It appeared from the puppies' markings that the father was a brown Labrador from the neighborhood. RP 1235. One of the puppies ate more and became "heftier" than the others, and this puppy was eventually named "Tank." RP 1089.

Martin knew Defendant Evans-Hubbard's daughter, Rachel,

through their high school wrestling program. RP 1085. They lived about a half-mile away from Martin. RP 1126. In early-February 2007, after Rachel's Great Dane had died, Martin gave Tank to Rachel. RP 900; 1108; 1122. Tank was six months old. RP 1108. The other puppies were also found homes and given away.

At times, there was a great deal of foot traffic coming in and out of Wilson's house. RP 1212. Many members of Martin's wrestling team would visit, which resulted in kids coming in and going out, and this afforded Betty with opportunities to escape. RP 1212. During a three-week period from February 10th through March 1st, 2007, Betty was the subject of three complaints to the County. At the time, the County's Animal Control had four animal control officers on duty to cover an area of 1,700 square miles. RP 634; Exhibit 82, (McCarthy Deposition, at 17).

On the evening of February 10, 2007, Gorman and Misty returned home from grocery shopping. RP 1263. Gorman parked her car in the driveway and let Misty out. RP 1263. Gorman got out and saw Betty running toward them. RP 1263. Gorman ran into her house with Misty ahead of her. RP 1263. Gorman tried to retrieve her groceries about 15 minutes later, but Betty was still in or near Gorman's front yard. RP 1264. Betty growled and snarled at Gorman. RP 1265. Gorman called 911. RP 1265. A deputy sheriff responded to the call, but by that time Betty was

gone. RP 1266. The deputy sheriff asked Gorman to relate what happened, went to Wilson's house, found no one was home, and left a note at Wilson's house. RP 1266-67. The deputy sheriff returned to Gorman's house, explained his attempt to contact Wilson, and told Gorman that she might want to call Animal Control on Monday morning. RP 1324. Gorman placed a call to Animal Control, heard a recorded message, and then left her name and number. RP 1269. But there was no record Gorman's call was received by Animal Control. RP 1002. Gorman made no follow-up call. RP 1326-27.

On February 22, 2007, Rick Russell, Romeo's owner, reported two pit bulls running loose and chasing kids. The following day, an animal control officer attempted to make contact with Wilson. RP 653. The officer found no one home and posted a notice on the front door, to which neither Wilson nor Martin responded. RP 591, 653. The officer mailed forms to the Russell family to obtain their written statement, but the Russells delayed in responding. RP 653. The animal control officer did not witness any behavior by the dogs, had no indication a dog bite was involved, and lacked a written statement from a complainant. RP 654.

Animal control officers do not declare an animal potentially

¹ The Russells delayed over six months and did not submit a written statement until **after** the August 2007 attack on their neighbor. RP 654.

dangerous unless they have sufficient evidence to support the declaration in the hearings process. RP 787. Dog owners have a right to contest a potentially dangerous dog declaration at a hearing, and the owner may appeal the hearing examiner's decision to superior court. See Former PCC 6.07.010.

If an officer witnessed the bite or aggressive behavior, he or she could testify regarding the dog's behavior at the potentially dangerous dog hearing. RP 787. However, the citizen complainant is normally the only eye witness to the dog's behavior. See RP 787. At the administrative hearing, a potentially dangerous dog declaration would likely be overturned if there is no eye witness to support the declaration. RP 785. Officers have a range of possible actions in addition to or in lieu of declaring a dog as potentially dangerous; such actions include issuing a verbal warning or issuing a notice of infraction. See RP 731.

On March 1, 2007, Betty chased Misty into Gorman's house. RP 1270. Betty began jumping at the glass door. RP 1270. Gorman closed the door's curtain and called 911. RP 1270. A deputy sheriff responded to the scene after Betty had left. The deputy sheriff talked to Gorman, went to Wilson's residence, stayed for a half- hour, and returned to Gorman's house with Martin. RP 1271. Martin apologized and told Gorman he would "fix the fence tomorrow." RP 1272. Martin and

Gorman exchanged phone numbers. RP 1271.

Betty had subsequent instances of aggressive conduct, including a July 2007 incident in which Betty entered Gorman's house through Gorman's sliding door. RP 1274. Gorman did not report any of these subsequent incidents to Animal Control or otherwise call 911. RP 1322. Nor did Gorman keep her sliding door closed. Gorman did make phone calls to Martin directly. RP 1273. But Martin failed to return Gorman's calls. RP 1273.

In 2007, Evans-Hubbard's daughter obtained a wrestling scholarship to a college in Kentucky and was starting her freshman year in the fall. RP 1213. Evans-Hubbard asked Wilson to take care of Tank for two weeks in August so she could drive Rachel to Kentucky and help move her into her dorm. RP 1121, 1214.

During the six months that Evans-Hubbard had Tank, she had never seen or heard of Tank snapping, growling, or biting anyone. RP 1124. Tank interacted well with friends, relatives and neighbors. RP 214. Tank would sleep with Evans-Hubbard's 95-year-old grandmother. RP 1124.

On August 17, 2007, Evans-Hubbard left with her daughter for Kentucky. RP 1121. Wilson and Evans-Hubbard had discussed how Tank would be contained. RP 1214. Evans-Hubbard brought Wilson a

two-foot screw-into-the-ground stake and stainless steel chain with a full body harness for Tank's detention outside when he was not directly supervised by Wilson or Martin. RP 1214.

On the morning of August 21, 2007, Betty and Tank were playing together inside Wilson's house. RP 1061 (Martin). Martin's girlfriend, Makayla Baker, was also in the house. RP 1061. At about 7:30 a.m., Wilson heard Makayla open a sliding door to let Betty and Tank outside. RP 1220.

At 8:22 a.m., Gorman was in bed and heard the sounds of growling, snarling, and barking. RP 407. Betty and Tank had entered her house and were in her bedroom. RP 407. Misty immediately got off the bed and ran safely outside. RP 407. Romeo was on the bed under the covers. RP 408. Betty and Tank jumped on Gorman's bed, and Betty bit Gorman on her left arm. RP 410. When Romeo jumped off the bed, Betty and Tank both went after Romeo and viciously attacked him. RP 409-1. When Gorman tried to grab Romeo, Betty and Tank bit her hands. RP 411.

Gorman retrieved a gun from underneath her nightstand and pointed it at the dogs. RP 413. She pulled the trigger several times, but the gun never fired. RP 413. She ended up throwing the gun at the dogs in frustration. RP 413. She then grabbed a walking stick and tried to hit

the dogs over the head, but the dogs paid no attention. RP 414. Gorman eventually picked up Romeo, put him in a closet, and pushed the closet door closed. RP 414. By that time, Romeo was covered in blood and nearly dead. RP 414. Betty then attacked Gorman by jumping at her and biting at her face and breasts. RP 414. Meanwhile, Tank managed to reopen the closet door and resumed attacking Romeo. RP 415-16. Betty joined Tank in attacking Romeo. RP 416. Gorman grabbed her telephone, left the house, and shut the sliding glass door behind her to trap Betty and Tank inside. RP 416. She called 911. RP 416.

Gorman suffered injuries that required hospitalization and a lengthy and painful recovery period. Romeo did not survive the attack. RP 623.

Betty and Tank were extracted from Gorman's house and detained. Tank was euthanized a month later. RP 1122. Betty remained detained at the Humane Society pending the outcome of criminal charges that were filed against Wilson and Martin arising out of the attack. RP 1073-74. Wilson and Martin entered guilty pleas. RP 1226. At sentencing, the court ordered Wilson and Martin to pay \$23,000 in restitution to Gorman, serve 30 days on an ankle monitor, and serve four years of probation that included no dog ownership. RP 1226, 1230. Betty was euthanized shortly after Wilson and Martin were sentenced. RP 1073-74.

B. Procedural Facts.

In July 2010, Gorman filed a lawsuit in Pierce County Superior Court naming as defendants Wilson, Martin, Evans-Hubbard, and Pierce County. On February 10, 2011, Pierce County moved for summary judgment arguing that the public duty doctrine precluded Gorman's negligence action against the County. The Honorable Stephanie Arend denied the motion, ruling that the failure to enforce exception to the public duty doctrine applied. The County sought discretionary review of this ruling. On June 22, 2011, the Honorable Eric B. Schmidt entered a ruling denying review. *See* Case No. 42022-8-II.

At trial, over the County's objections, the trial court allowed plaintiff to introduce evidence that from 2000 to 2006, 10 complaints to Animal Control were made concerning Wilson's dogs even though none of the calls were made by plaintiff and none concerned Betty. Plaintiff made repeated references to this evidence throughout the trial. RP 688; Illustrative Exhibit 78; 726-7; 779, 924, 967, 971, 977, 1114.

The County took exception to the Court's Instruction Number 5 in which the court instructed the jury that Pierce County could be found liable for "... [f]ailing to protect the public from a potentially dangerous dog." RP 1356, CP 881. The County's attorney argued that this was not an accurate statement of the County's duty under the public duty doctrine.

RP 1356. The County also took exception to the other definitions of the County's duty: "Failing to confiscate and confine a potentially dangerous dog is also misleading, as if that's a required thing in all cases." RP 1356.

At the close of the plaintiff's case, the County raised a motion for judgment as a matter of law under CR 50. RP 1448. The County argued that the failure to enforce exception to the public duty doctrine did not apply because the ordinance at issue, Former Pierce County Code 6.07.010, gave the officers the discretion over whether to declare any individual dog as "potentially dangerous." RP 1450. The County argued: "These deputies were not required to classify any particular dog in a particular way." RP 1450. The court denied Pierce County's CR 50 motion as follows:

With regard to failure to enforce, I would rely also upon the *King vs. Hutson* case, and find that the failure to enforce exception applies in this case. They had a duty once they were aware of a violation to investigate and take action.

RP 1456. Plaintiff voluntarily withdrew her claim that the special relationship exception to the public duty doctrine applied, leaving only the failure to enforce exception for the jury's consideration. RP 1474-75

Defendants Wilson, Martin and Evans-Hubbard each admitted liability under the strict liability dog bite statute. See RP 1463. The jury found each of the defendants liable including Pierce County. CP 904.

The jury apportioned fault as follows: Wilson and Martin 52%, Pierce County 42%; Evans-Hubbard 5%, and Gorman 1%. CP 904.

V. ARGUMENT

- A. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Dismiss Pierce County as Party to This Lawsuit Under the Public Duty Doctrine.
- 1. The Failure to Enforce Exception to the Public Duty Doctrine Does Not Apply Because Former Pierce County Code (PCC) 6.07.010 Did Not Impose A Mandatory Duty to Declare Betty a Potentially Dangerous Dog.

a. The Public Duty Doctrine

A plaintiff who raises a claim of negligence has the burden of proving each of the following four elements: (1) the defendant owed a duty of care to the plaintiff, (2) the defendant breached that duty, (3) the breach was a proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries, and (4) the plaintiff suffered legally compensable damages. *Marshall v. Bally's Pacwest, Inc.*, 94 Wn. App. 372, 378, 972 P.2d 475 (1999). To be actionable in negligence, the duty at issue must be owed to the injured plaintiff, and not owed to the public in general. *Fishburn v. Pierce County Planning and Land Services*, 161 Wn. App. 452, 464, 250 P.3d 146 (2011) (citing *Taylor v. Stevens County*, 111 Wn.2d 159, 163, 759 P.2d 447 (1988)).

This basic principle of negligence law is expressed in the public

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