NO. 42502-5-II

FILED  
JUL 15 11 30 AM '11  
BY 

---

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

Sue Anne Gorman,

Appellant

v.

Pierce County, et al.,

Respondents

---

**RESPONDENT EVANS-HUBBARD'S RESPONSE TO CROSS-  
APPEAL BY SUE ANN GORMAN**

---

Nancy McCoid, WSBA # 13763  
Attorneys for Respondent Evans-Hubbard

**SOHA & LANG, P.S.**  
1325 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2000  
Seattle, WA 98101  
Telephone: (206) 624-1800  
Facsimile No.: (206) 624-3585

ORIGINAL

##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

**ISSUE ONE: Gorman’s appeal on comparative fault should be denied because it is based solely on arguments that were not raised until the post-trial CR 50(b) motion, depriving the trial court of the opportunity to rule on these arguments before the case went to the jury. The issue was therefore not properly preserved for appeal.**

CR 50(b) provides

**Renewing Motion for Judgment After Trial:**

Alternative Motion for New Trial. If, for any reason, the court does not grant a motion for judgment as a matter of law made at the close of the evidence, the court is considered to have submitted the action to the jury, subject to the court's later deciding the legal questions raised by the motion. **The movant may renew its request for judgment as a matter of law** by filing a motion no later than 10 days after entry of judgment—and may alternatively request a new trial or join a motion for a new trial under rule 59....

The language of the Court rule makes clear that a CR 50(b) motion is a renewal of a prior motion, not a new motion on issues and arguments not previously raised before the case went to the jury. Comments to the 2005 amendment of the rule emphasize the importance of the motion initially being brought before the verdict:

Third, the suggested amendments to CR 50(b) replace the existing section with the language of Fed. R. Civ. P. 50(b) regarding motions for judgment as a matter of law after trial. This suggested amendment changes Washington practice and **requires that a motion for judgment as a matter of law be made before submission of the case to the jury as a condition to renewing the motion post-verdict. The Committee concluded that requiring a motion for judgment as a matter of law before the case is submitted to the jury enhances the administration of justice because the parties and/or the court can correct possible errors before verdict.** Absent such a motion before submission of the case to the jury, a party may not bring a motion for judgment as a matter of law thereafter. In addition, it is beneficial in this situation to have Washington and federal practice be the same.

(emphasis added). Allowing a party to raise new issues or arguments in a CR 50(b) post-trial motion would defeat the purpose of the rule because the trial court does not have an opportunity to correct errors raised by the new arguments that are not raised until after the verdict.

Although there are no Washington state cases addressing this specific issue, there are numerous federal decisions holding that new issues and arguments cannot be raised in a post-trial motion for judgment as a matter of law. When a Washington Court Rule is the same as the corresponding federal rule, the Washington courts look to federal case law for guidance in interpreting the Washington rule. See, e.g., *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wash. 2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). CR 50 is virtually identical to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (FRCP) 50, thus, cases interpreting FRCP are valuable in applying CR 50.

Wright & Miller offer a detailed discussion of FRCP 50, then state that:

The district court only can grant the rule 50(b) motion on the grounds advanced in the preverdict motion, because the former is conceived of as only a renewal of the latter.

9B Wright & Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure*, ¶2537 at p. 603-4.

The authors go on to state:

since the post-submission motion is nothing more than a renewal of the earlier motion made at the close of the presentation of the evidence, the case law makes it quite

clear that the movant cannot assert a ground that was not included in the earlier motion.

*Id.* at p. 606 (citing) *Unitherm Food Sys. Inc. v. Swift-Eckrich, Inc.*, 546 U.S. 394, 126 S.Ct. 980 (2006).

The precise claim made in the CR 50(b) motion *must* have been made in the motion for directed verdict. A motion for directed verdict based on other grounds does not satisfy Rule 50(b). *Johnson v. Rogers*, 621 F.2d 300, 305 (8th Cir. 1980); *Wall v. United States*, 592 F.2d 154, 159-60 (3d Cir. 1979); *Sulmeyer v. Coca Cola Co.*, 515 F.2d 835, 846 (5th Cir. 1975), *cert. denied*, 424 U.S. 934, 96 S.Ct. 1148, 47 L.Ed.2d 341 (1976); *Baltimore & Carolina Line v. Redman*, 295 U.S. 654, 55 S.Ct. 890, 79 L.Ed. 1636 (1935); *U. S. Industries, Inc. v. Blake Const. Co., Inc.* 671 F.2d 539, 548, 217 U.S.App.D.C. 33, 42 (C.A.D.C., 1982). In *Smith v. Lightning Bolt Productions, Inc.*, 861 F.2d 363, 367 -368 (2d Cir., 1988), the court followed the general rule and denied a motion for JNOV stating:

First, so far as we can determine from the record, defendants are procedurally barred from relying on this contention in their attack on the judgment. Generally a party is not entitled to judgment n.o.v. on any ground that he has not raised in a motion for a directed verdict, see, e.g., *Baskin v. Hawley*, 807 F.2d 1120, 1129-30 (2d Cir.1986); 5A Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 50.08, at 50-74 to 50-75 (2d ed. 1988), and the directed verdict motion must have "state[d] the specific grounds therefor," Fed.R.Civ.P. 50(a). The purpose of the requirement of specificity is to

give the claimant a fair “opportunity to cure the defects in proof that might otherwise preclude him from taking the case to the jury.” 5A Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 50.08, at 50-77.

The Second Circuit explained that there was no evidence the defendants moved for a directed verdict on the basis that there was a lack of proof of a misrepresentation about their financial condition. The argument that there was “no intent to deceive” and the statement “I don’t believe there is any evidence before this Jury of fraud” were insufficient to raise the issue of lack of a misrepresentation before the case went to the jury and thus could not be raised in a post-trial motion.

Similarly, Gorman did not raise the arguments presented on appeal and at the post-trial motion for judgment as a matter of law in her motion for directed verdict. Only 15 lines of the 18 page motion for directed verdict were devoted to arguing for a directed verdict on comparative fault as to all defendants. CP 1434 l. 17-23, 1435, l. 1-8. Gorman’s argument, in its entirety, was that Rick Russell and Zachary Martin testified that they also left their doors open for their dogs and that defendants did not put on any testimony “suggesting that Ms. Gorman’s practice of leaving her sliding door open was unreasonable under the circumstances.” CP 1435. Gorman also cited to her testimony that a nail in the door probably would not have kept the dogs out. The ‘argument’ concluded with a statement

that “the only reasonable conclusion...is that Ms. Gorman’s failure to put a nail in her sliding door was not unreasonable...” CP 1436.

There was no mention of duty of any kind, much less of absence of a duty to keep the door closed, or of any of the other arguments raised in the posttrial motion and this appeal. Gorman essentially argued there was insufficient evidence of comparative fault, never raising the question of whether there was a duty “to shut herself in her home indefinitely,” a “duty to retreat,” no duty to fence property or keep animals off property, no duty to protect oneself from harm, or a public policy against requiring homeowners to take common sense measures to avoid danger, as argued in the posttrial motion and in this appeal. Gorman claims that the trial court “should have ruled as a matter of law that just as Ms. Gorman had no legal duty to fence her yard, she also had no legal duty to keep her sliding door closed.” Brief at 62. The problem with this request is that it was never made to the trial court. Gorman never argued absence of duty at any point during the trial, including the motion for directed verdict. By waiting until after the verdict was entered, Gorman prevented the trial court from having an opportunity to rule on the issue of duty, just as she prevented defendants for arguing to the court that there was a duty of ordinary care and presenting the arguments and evidence that Gorman violated that duty. Gorman’s appeal from the CR 50(b) order denying her motion for

judgment as a matter of law should be denied because her motion was improper as a matter of law. She was not entitled to have comparative fault dismissed on the basis of grounds not raised until after the verdict was entered.

Gorman did not argue absence of a duty at any time during the case until the post-trial motion. From her motion for partial summary judgment to motions in limine to arguing jury instructions, she took the position that the dog-owner defendants were not entitled to raise comparative fault because they were strictly liable under the dog-bite statute. She has not raised that argument on appeal, presumably because RCW 4.22.070 requires apportionment among *all* potential at-fault parties excepting exempt employers, with no exemption for dog-bite cases. Having failed to include the “strict liability precludes apportionment” argument in her opening brief on her cross-appeal, she cannot raise it in this appeal at all. See *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wash.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (“An issue raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideration.”); *State v. Peerson*, 62 Wash.App. 755, 778, 816 P.2d 43 (1991) (a reviewing court need not address issues of constitutional magnitude first raised in a reply brief); *Dang v. Ehredt*, 95 Wash.App. 670, 677, 977 P.2d 29, 34 (1999)

(refusing to consider issue raised for first time in reply and not raised before trial court).

The trial court properly denied Gorman's CR 50(b) motion because it raised new issues and thus did not comply with the requirements of the rule. Gorman's appeal based on denying the CR 50(b) motion must therefore be denied. Because Gorman has no other basis for her argument relating to comparative fault, having failed to raise the arguments actually advanced to the trial court on this appeal, her appeal as to the comparative fault issue must be denied.

**ISSUE TWO:            Everyone, including Gorman, has a duty to use ordinary care for their own safety. Gorman was at fault for choosing to leave her exterior bedroom door open at night when she believed that Betty was "out to get" Gorman's dog, Betty had previously entered her home through the sliding door, Betty was in Gorman's yard "25 to 50 times" in the prior month, and Gorman was "worried" that Betty would come into her home and attack her or her dog.**

**A.        Standard for Granting a CR 50(b) Motion and Standard of Review on Appeal**

Gorman's cross-appeal should be denied even if the Court decides to consider the untimely arguments first presented in the CR 50(b) motion because there was sufficient evidence of negligence by Gorman to take the case to the jury. In ruling on a motion for judgment as a matter of law,

the moving party's evidence will be disregarded and the nonmoving party's evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom will be accepted as true. *Davis v. Early Construction Co.*, 63 Wn.2d 252, 386 P.2d 958 (1963). Further, it has been said that the nonmoving party is not bound by his or her own unfavorable evidence and “is entitled to have his case submitted to the jury on the basis of the evidence which is most favorable to his contention.”

*Spring v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 96 Wn.2d 914, 640 P.2d 1

(1982). The standard of review on appeal is de novo:

We review a trial court's decision on a motion for judgment as a matter of law using the same standard as the trial court. *Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc.*, 134 Wash.2d 24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 (1997). A motion for judgment as a matter of law admits the truth of the opponent's evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn from it. *Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Cent. Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 126 Wash.2d 50, 98, 882 P.2d 703 (1994). “Granting a motion for judgment as a matter of law is appropriate when, viewing the evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party.” *Sing*, 134 Wash.2d at 29, 948 P.2d 816. If any justifiable evidence exists on which reasonable minds might reach conclusions consistent with the verdict, the issue is for the jury. *Queen City Farms*, 126 Wash.2d at 98, 882 P.2d 703.

*Mega v. Whitworth College*, 138 Wash.App. 661, 668, 158 P.3d 1211, 1214 - 1215 (2007). As with the pre-verdict CR 50(a) motion, the CR 50(b) post-trial motion for judgment as a matter of law is granted only when the court can find as a matter of law that there is no evidence to support the verdict. *Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co.*, 140

Wn.2d 517, 529, 998 P.2d 856 (2000). Evidence is sufficient to support the verdict if it would persuade a “fair-minded, reasonable person of the truth of the declared premise.” *Bishop of Victoria Corp. Sale v. Corporate Business Park, LLC*, 138 Wn.App. 443, 158 P.3d 1183 (2007). It is error to grant a CR 50(b) motion where evidence presented by the non-moving party, even if inconsistent, contains inferences the jury is entitled to believe and which support the verdict. *Weitz v. Wagner*, 67 Wn.2d 300, 487 P.2d 456 (1965).

**B. Gorman Had a Duty to Use Reasonable Care for Her Own Safety**

Gorman mischaracterizes the issue in stating that “there is no duty to keep one’s door closed to protect oneself from marauding dogs...” Brief at 57. Duty is not so narrowly or so specifically defined. Gorman’s duty, like that of every plaintiff and every defendant, was to use ordinary care for her own safety. Washington adopted contributory fault as the method for apportioning damages between a negligent plaintiff and a negligent defendant in 1981. RCW 4.22.005 et. seq. “Fault” is defined as including “unreasonable failure to avoid an injury....” RCW 4.22.015. In using this language the legislature clearly recognized that there is a duty to use reasonable care to avoid injury. Failure to do so is contributory negligence. Determining the percentage of total fault attributable to each

party, “including the claimant or person suffering personal injury,” is specifically reserved for the trier of fact. *Id.*

This same duty is expressed in WPI Civil Instruction 10.2, which was given to the jury in this case without objection:

Ordinary care means the care a reasonably careful person would exercise under the same or similar circumstances.

The Committee on pattern instructions recommends that no additional instruction be given as to the duty of ordinary care of a plaintiff because:

Under Washington law, the contributory negligence of a plaintiff constitutes an affirmative defense. The subject is adequately covered by the use of WPI 10.02, Ordinary Care—Adult—Definition, and WPI 11.01, Contributory Negligence—Definition.

The jury was properly asked to evaluate the evidence using this standard and concluded that there was evidence of negligence by Gorman, awarding 1% comparative fault.

In determining whether a person was contributorily negligent, the inquiry is whether or not the person exercised that reasonable care for his or her own safety that a reasonable person would have used under the existing facts or circumstances, and, if not, whether such conduct was a legally contributing cause of the injury. *Rosendahl v. Lesourd Methodist Church*, 68 Wn.2d 180, 182, 412 P.2d 109 (1966); *Huston v. First Church of God, of Vancouver*, 46 Wn.App. 740, 747, 732 P.2d 173 (1987). A

plaintiff's negligence relates to a failure to use due care for his or her own protection whereas a defendant's negligence relates to a failure to use due care for the safety of others. See *Geschwind v. Flanagan*, 121 Wn.2d 833, 854 P.2d 1061 (1993) and the cases cited therein; see also *Honegger v. Yoke's Washington Foods, Inc.*, 83 Wn.App. 293, 296, 921 P.2d 1080 (1996).

“Ordinarily, the existence of contributory negligence is a factual question to be resolved by the jury.” *Young v. Caravan Corp.*, 99 Wn.2d 655, 661, 663 P.2d 834, 672 P.2d 1267 (1983); *Geschwind*, supra. Consequently, a finding of contributory negligence as a matter of law should be made only in the clearest of cases and when reasonable minds could not differ in interpreting a factual pattern. *Bordynoski v. Bergner*, 97 Wash.2d 335, 340, 644 P.2d 1173 (1982); *Browning v. Ward*, 70 Wash.2d 45, 48-49, 422 P.2d 12 (1966).

**C. There was Ample Evidence Establishing That Gorman Failed to Use Ordinary Care for Her Own Safety**

Gorman claims there was no evidence of negligence and that it was therefore error to deny her CR 50(a) and (b) motions. Gorman is wrong. There was substantial evidence that Gorman failed to use “the care a reasonable person would use under the same circumstances. Gorman testified to the following:

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